








core area of The Willows farm, which 
she �~�a�d� already managed for at least 
eight sears.22 

Perhaps because of her managerial 
role, historians have tended to downplay 
Alice's contributions of ornamentals to the 
Hanley Farm. Certainly, as a self­
supporting woman, Alice maintained a 
strong focus on ranch products, garden 
vegetables and fruit and nut trees, which 
put food on the table. Alice planted the fig 
in front of the new bam she had 
constructed around 1910, carefully siting 
the shrub on the south side of the structure 
to provide it warmth and sunlight. The 
massive shrub still produces two crops of 
figs a year. In the 1920s, Alice also put in 
English walnut trees along the curving 
drive that approaches the house. She 
planted two black walnuts at the entrance 
to the farm. She was perhaps inspired by 
the American Tree Association's national 
campaign to plant nut trees along roads 
and highways.23 

But Alice, like her mother, also 
appears to have been interested in 
ornamental plants. Alice's request to 
Martha to "bring home some pretty 
flowers in the spring" indicates the value 
she placed on the beautiful as well as 
the useful. A photograph (top left) of 
Alice and two cousins taken near the 
springhouse about 1890 shows a garden 

Alice Hanley planted this giant 
sequoia to the west of the house, 
possibly as a seedling obtained 
from the Peter Britt family. 

Alice planted a white fig between 
the main doors of the 1910 bam. 
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The Hanley sisters, Claire, Mary and 
Martha, shown here circa 1918. 

cultivated for pleasure. The women, 
holding sprays of roses, stand in front 
of a blooming lilac, in the shade of a 
bigleaf maple, surrounded by potted 
plants, including calla lilies and yuccas. 
Roses climb up the fence and branches 
of Martha's weeping willow sweep 
gracefully through one comer of the 
picture. The photo, featuring potted 
ornamentals, also evidences the Hanleys' 
plant-trading friendship with the Peter 
Britt family. The Britt property was noted 
for an exotic collection of plants, 
including callas and yuccas. The giant 
sequoia (Sequoiadendron giganteum) that 
Alice planted on the west side of the 
house may have been planted out of 
admiration for the strapping specimen on 
the Britt property, which Peter Britt 
planted in 1862.24 

In 1906, Alice became the guardian of 
her orphaned six-year-old niece, Claire. 
Alice passed on to her niece the love and 
lore of growing things. Claire became a 
more sophisticated gardener than her aunt, 
with a wider circle of gardening contacts. 
By the late 1920s, Claire was active in the 
Medford Garden Club. She later became a 
mainstay of the Jacksonville Garden Club 
and the Jackson County Home Extension 
Service. She served as an officer in the 
Oregon Federation of Garden Clubs, and 
held the presidency from 1954-56. 

Claire made her mark on the 
Hanley landscape as the original 
landscape began to mature. She may have 
influenced Alice to have concrete ponds 
and a fountain added to the area near the 
springhouse, along with a curved concrete 
curb for a flowerbed.25 

By the mid-1930s, foundation plantings, 
including boxwood, surrounded the 

Lilacs screened the windows of the 
sitting room. Wisteria billowed like a 
thundercloud up the east column of the 
front porch and over the second floor 
balcony. The Hooker oak overtopped and 
shaded the southwest side of the house. 
Mature trees cast their shadows over the 
area between the back porch and the 
springhouse. The open landscape into 
which Alice was born in 1859 had 
become a tree-sheltered enclosure where 

A clematis drapes its blossoms over the 
doors to the service shed. 

The springhouse, recently restored, has 
long served as a focal point of the Hanley 
Farm, where the willow Martha Hanley 
planted in the cool, moist soil gave the 
property its nineteenth century name. 

ferns and violets flourished in deep shade 
by the time of her death in 1940. Close 
upon Alice's death, the great weeping 
willow, planted eighty years earlier by 
Martha, uprooted. Though recumbent, its 
roots still lived and drew moisture from 
the spring. New shoots have since sprung 
up from the base of the tree. 

After Alice's death, Claire invited her 
sisters Mary and Martha to live with her 
at The Willows. The variety of plantings 
increased dramatically during the next 
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three decades, as all three sisters 
made additions to the landscape. 
Through their gardening friends 
and through family visits to 
nurseries and botanical gardens 
in the United States, Canada 
and Central America, the 
sisters continuously acquired 
plants. In 1945, Mary 
relocated a greenhouse to the 
fmmstead for her orchids. 
Martha had a lath house 

constructed to shelter her 
tuberous begonias.26 Fitting these 
new plants into an already full 
landscape became a challenge. 

Increased shading and 
crowding of flower beds 

forced the Hanley 
sisters to relocate 
many older plants 
that couldn't 
tolerate the changed 
conditions. They 
created a new rose 
gm·den area, which 

incorporated the 
heirloom roses 

planted by Martha in 
the 1850s, roses planted 

by Alice, and their own 
additions. They filled the shaded 

areas with ferns, hellebores, 
azaleas and early bulbs such as 
snowdrops, which leaf out and 
die back before deciduous trees 
put out their spring leaves and 
steal the light. They probably 
continued to divide and 
replant Alice's Roman 
hyacinths. Shade-loving 
periwinkle (Vinca major), 

perhaps obtained from the 
Britts,27 was planted as ground 
cover for the deeply shaded area 
around the springhouse. 

lfl 
] 
"' Among the Society's j 

collection of Hanley ~ 

papers is a list in Claire's j 
handwriting of plants -
including Latin botanical 
names - purchased from 
the W.B. Clm-ke and Co. 
Nursery.28 This list indicates 
Claire's horticultural 
sophistication and hints at 
her landscaping strategies. 
Even today, many of the 
species and varieties listed 
are not readily available. 
Most of the plants are shade 
tolerant; Claire chose 
shrubs and small trees that 
could adapt to the heavy 
coniferous and deciduous 
overstory, which had been 
expanding over the grounds for 
more than a hundred years. Most 
of the plants are appropriate for 
a naturalistic, woodland planting, 
a style well-suited to the 
increasingly shaded prope1ty. 
The choice of plants on the list 
also makes it clear that Claire, 
like Peter Britt before her, was 
willing to experiment with plants 
that m·e marginally hm·dy in this 
m·ea. 

Included on this list are 
species and varieties of the genus 
Magnolia. The majority are 
deciduous Asian magnolias and 
exemplify the great variety of 
East Asian species and newly 
hybridized vmieties becoming 
available not only to botanical 
gm·dens but to discerning 
gardeners. With her connections, 
Claire could choose trees and 
shrubs for The Willows from an 
almost unlimited palette of 
plants. And like her grandmother, 

Martha, she selected 
choice specimens. 

The rarest tree 
from this period is 
the dawn redwood 
(Metasequoia 
glyptostroboides) just 
west of the current 
driveway. Claire 
planted it sometime 
after 1948, when this 
tree was brought into 
cultivation. Until 
1941, when living 
trees were discovered 
in southwestern 

Today trees surround 
the 1875 Hanley home. 

This pink saucer magnolia is one 
of several species on the property 
planted by Claire Hanley. 

China, dawn redwood was only 
known from the fossil record and 
botanists believed it to be extinct. 
In 1947, Harvard's Arnold 
Arboretum mounted an expedition 
to China to obtain seeds, which 
were then widely distributed to 
colleges, universities and 
arboreta.29 Southern Oregon 
College of Education received 
seeds that were grown and 
distributed as small trees. One 
grows on the Southern Oregon 
University cmnpus, a couple 
grow in the university 
neighborhood and one stands in 
Lithia Park. The specimen on the 
Hanley property is of 
approximately the same size as 
these original distributions, so it 
is possible that Claire, as a noted 
plantswoman, received an 
original tree as well. It is also 
possible that she obtained one 
from her nursery friends, since 
the trees were propagated readily 
from cuttings made from the 
miginal seed-grown specimens. 

Conscious of the histmical 
significance of their property, 
the Hanley sisters wanted to 
share their he1itage with future 
generations. Claire assured the 
continuation of the tradition of 
agricultural and ornamental 
experimentation by selling eighty 
acres of the farm for use as 
Oregon State University 's 
Southern Oregon Experiment 
Station. Pmt of the tract, used for 
display of ornmnentals, became 
the Claire Hanley Arboretum. 
Established in 1961, it gave 
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·''residents of Southern Oregon 
an opportunity to observe a 
variety .. of plant materials 
under local conditions."30 

When Mary Hanley died 
in 1986, the Society took 
over complete management 
of The Willows, according 
to the Hanley sisters' wishes. 
Today, the Society continues to refine 
its management plan for what is now 
called the Hanley Farm. The greatest 
challenges include landscaping decisions. 
A farmhouse and its outbuildings may be 
maintained to represent particular histmic 
periods, but a landscape continues to 
evolve. 

Spring brings a blizzard of magnolia 
blossoms to the northwest side of the 
Hanley home. 

These purple and white Roman 
hyacinths, among the earliest bulb 
plantings at the farm, add welcome color 
after winter's endless months of gray. 

A recent undertaking at Hanley Farm 
was replacement of the Hanley Hooker 
Oak, which toppled shortly after Mary 's 
death, with another California valley oak. 
Planted in the spring of 1995, the young 
oak has grown quickly. It promises to 
continue the legacy of cherished plantings 
at the Hanley Farm into the next 
millenni um. lll 

Anthropologist Nan Hannon and 
ethnobotanist Donn Todt garden in 
Ashland. 
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Mary Hanley never lost her 
love of plants, and enjoyed 
puttering in her greenhouse 
amid her orchids and other 
exotics. At right, in this 1984 
photograph, Mary holds a 
spectacular Magnolia 
'grandiflora' blossom. 
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Ashland's Railroad District .· 
-PREsERVING THE PAST 

By Lou ise A. Watson 

N
ever underestimate 
the power of the 
grassroots movement. 
After all, grassroots 
activity has changed 

maps and society's attitudes. But in 
Ashland, a group of neighbors had 
a simpler goal - preserve some homes 
from the wrecker's ball and maintain the 
historic character of their neighborhood. 
They were successful: Ashland's Railroad 
Addition Historic District was formally 
listed May 6, 1999, to the National 
Register of Historic Places. 

But it didn't happen overnight. 
The 117 -acre district itself sprang 

up more than 100 years ago, when the 
Southem Pacific Railroad subdivided 
the area and sold land to its workers. The 
District is bounded by Ashland Creek on 
the west, Eighth Street on the east, the 
railroad tracks on the north, and East Main 
Street and Lithia Way on the south. 
According to Bill Emerson, district 
resident and neighborhood leader, "it was 
called the Railroad District Addition and 
that is how the name came about."1 

The railroad was a significant part of 
Ashland's daily life for more than thirty­
five years. History was made when the 
Golden Spike connecting Southem 
Pacific's San Francisco-Portland line was 
driven in Ashland on December 17, 1887, 
completing tracks around the United 
States. But Southern Pacific adopted a 
newer, more economic route in 1927, 
bypassing Ashland and causing the district 

The Ashland Depot, above, 
was moved across A Street 
and restored in the early 
1990s. Haskins Garage, at 
right, was constructed in 
1908 as the fire engine 
house for the the city's 
Hose Company No. 2. It 
also contained a jail cell 
for holding drunks. 
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to nearly die 
out.2 Railroad 

President Roosevelt's 1903 visit to the 
Rogue Valley drew a large crowd to the 

Railroad District, then in its heyday. 

graceful homes of craftsman, Queen Anne, 
Gothic, and Italianate architecture entered 
a long period of neglect that lasted four 
decades. 

By the 1970s, Ashland's Historic 
Preservation Committee had been formed 
along with the city's Historic Commission, 
still an official municipal department. Four 
"historic interest" areas were identified: the 
downtown commercial district, the Siskiyou­
Hargadine district, the Skidmore Academy 
district, and the Railroad District Addition.3 

The city mounted vintage-style signs 
identifying these areas above green-and­
white city street signs. The Railroad District, 
with all of its charm, was being rebom. 

On September 13, 1979, fifty people met 
to form the Ashland Railroad District 
Neighborhood Association.4 The drive to 
obtain National Register status had 
begun. Definite boundaries for the 
district had to be mapped out and 
finalized. At first Emerson, a Historic 
Commission member, did it alone. Later, 
historian George Kramer was hired for 
the job. Ashland historian Kay Atwood 
drew up an inventory of all district 
historic structures, both commercial and 
residential. Emerson set up a "phone 
tree" to notify all district neighbors of 
issues concerning the area. 

One of those issues surfaced in the rnid-
1980s when neighbors united to protest the 
planned installation of a microwave 

telephone tower at Sixth and East 
Main streets. It took more than a 
year, but the district's historic 
designation convinced telephone 
company officials to place the 
tower elsewhere. 

But the neighbors weren't done. 
According to resident Zelpha 
Hutton, when the neighborhood 
organization found out thirteen 
Southern Pacific-owned lots 

were for sale, they envisioned a 
park. Citizens worked many long 
hours lobbying the city to 
purchase and develop the land 
for this purpose. They were 
rewarded in 1992 when the land 
between Sixth and A streets, 

near the Golden Spike commemorative 
marker, became Railroad Park. 5 

National Register designation allows 
district residents to qualify for fifteen-year 
tax "freezes" on a prope1ty's assessed 
valuation, if they apply. Historic district 
status also means architectural harmony 
will be retained in the neighborhood, says 
Mark Knox, Ashland associate planner. 
"There is value there for the property 
owners, which will then tum into value for 
the community because of their history," he 
said.6 i 

Thanks to Railroad District neighbors, the 
city purchased surplus lots from Southern 
Pacific in 1992 to rr=::::.;;;;i'=======~ 
build Railroad 
Park, near the 
Golden Spike 
commemorative 
marker. 

Louise A. Watson is a Medford freelance 
writer and editor and a volunteer for the 
Society. 
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Jane Mason McCully: 
PIONEER OF EARLY JACKSONVILLE 

ne hundred years ago, 
on June 22, 1899, Jane 
Mason McCully slipped 
away from this life 
after being a wife, 

mother, wagon train pioneer, teacher 
in her own private school, and 
entrepreneur during the mining era of 
the Rogue Valley. Jane immigrated to 
New York from Scotland in 1831 with her 
parents. She had been baptized in the same 
old kirk the poet Robert Burns attended, a 
fitting beginning for a woman who enjoyed 
composing songs and verses. 1 In Iowa, in 
1848, Jane married John Wilmer McCully, 
a young medical doctor. They joined a 
westward-bound wagon train in 1851. 

The McCullys spent their first Oregon 
winter in Salem, where Jane taught 
school. Excited by the discovery of gold 
near Jacksonville, the McCullys drove 
their team of horses south. Although the 
area was teeming with miners, few at first 
were interested in visiting John McCully's 
medical office. Medications were packed 
in from Yreka, resulting in long delays. 
Jane McCully, unable to find work 
teaching as there were no students yet in 
Jacksonville, began baking. Her pies, cakes 
and bread sold for a dollar apiece and the 
miners gobbled up everything she made.2 

John McCully's medical practice grew. 
Their first child, James Cluggage 
McCully, arrived in 1853. John McCully 
began investing in local businesses, and in 
his own McCully Hall at 175 S. Oregon 
Street, which housed a hardware store 
downstairs and an auditorium upstairs. In 
1857, Mary Bell McCully was born. 
Another daughter, Isadora, was born in 
1859. John McCully began construction 
of the McCully House in 1861, a grand 
affair in the classical revival style.3 

lf'f~~ SOUTHERN 
llll OREGON 
llll HISTORICAL 

J!!L SOCIETY 

106 N . Central Ave. 
Medford, Oregon 97501 -5926 

remains a 
prominent 

part of 
downtown. 

Jacksonville. 

McCully Hall once housed a hardware 
store and auditorium. It is now known 

as the Odd Fellows Hall. 

Mortgaged to the hilt, the McCullys 
found it difficult to satisfy their debts. 
Perhaps the dogged creditors were the 
reason John McCully abandoned his 
family, never to visit Jacksonville again. 
Jane McCully, through the sale of various 
assets and careful management of others, 
such as an interest in the Eldorado Saloon, 
managed to keep the family home. She 
opened her doors to Amos Rogers and his 
wife to start a boarding house in the 
downstairs portion of her home, providing 
delicious meals to Jacksonville's rough­
hewn citizens. She helped with the baking 
until she started a p1ivate school - Mrs. 
McCully's Female Seminary, later open to 
boys, too- in the autumn of 1862. Jane 
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McCully taught basic education, art and 
piano to the children of Jacksonville's 
pioneers. 

As a member of the Southern Oregon 
Pioneer Association, Jane McCully 
composed this verse: 

"The old Pioneers are all Slipping away 
To join that big throng on that joyful day. 
Our days are all numbered, our tasks are all done. 
We 're all waiting to cross over, One by One. 
The heavenly gates are standing ajar; 
to welcome the Old Pioneers from afar." 

Today much has changed in this 
former mining camp. But Jane McCully's 
tradition of providing lodging and 
sumptuous, sought-after meals is 
continued by the present owners of the 
McCully House Inn. i 

Karine Gabrielle is an Ashland 
businesswoman and freelance writer. 
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